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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

It gives me great pleasure to present the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2020 from Man King Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we”), which presents another challenging and unprecedented year for our company.

PERFORMANCE AND STRATEGY
When we prepared the last budget and strategy in 2019, it was hardly to imagine that Hong Kong’s economy would have recessed 
so grimly against the headwinds of the US-China trade conflict, the disruption of months of social unrest and the early 2020 
outbreak of novel coronavirus, COVID-19.

Firstly, although Hong Kong Government continues to have a bold vision and commitment to continuing to develop its 
infrastructure and built environment, there are problems within the government getting budgets approved for each new project in a 
timely manner. This problem has been further impacted months of protest, and now COVID-19 pandemic. As of the latest list of 
approved Public Works, there are 58 and 18 (out of 90) approved by Sub-Committee (PSW) and Finance Committee (FC), 
respectively. Money wise, it is about HK$132 billion and HK$87 billion approved by PSW and FC, respectively. This will heavily tread 
the already over-competitive construction market in year 2021.

Secondly, the coronavirus outbreak has made the situation from bad to worst and profoundly impacted the construction industry. 
The then coronavirus pandemic has caused significant delays and contractors to bear huge costs where sites and staff teams 
became idle or are working inefficiently.

We know that these pressures will not disappear overnight, especially the impact to the construction market. The Group, like others, 
need an agile strategy to optimize the business to address these perplexed issues. In this regard, the Group has imposed strict cost 
control on administrative expenses and such expenses have decreased from approximately HK$27.4 million in the last financial year 
to approximately HK$25.1 million in the current year. Its two operation divisions, Peako and Concentric, have been closely 
monitoring the materials supplies for negotiating better price and terms on key material costs.

The third pillar of our diversified business “the 20.3% owned “One Belt One Road” project of Coal Transshipping Service and 
Bareboat Charter in Pakistan” helps address bottlenecks in the short term local construction business. Despite the project also 
faced challenge from COVID-19 pandemic, the first season of coal transshipment services began in October 2019 and successfully 
ended in early April 2020, with over 2.2 million tons of coal have been safely transshipped from the incoming ocean going vessels to 
the power plant jetty. The fleet is now at outage as scheduled due to monsoon season and accordingly they have sheltered for 
completing maintenance work ready for the next coal transhipment season in mid-September.

We expect the quantity of coal transshipment will increase in the coming operating season as the local electricity demand increases. 
In addition to the stable bareboat charter income, we foresee the diversified business will provide constant profitable return to the 
Group in the coming years.

OUR PEOPLE
Our people make the Company and remain as important asset. We have significant strength and depth within our Company, with 
the majority of our executives boasting long tenures with the Group. Every project we work on depends on the skills and expertise 
of our people. Our aims are to ensure that our employees exhibit the values and behaviours of the Company.

As the Group is growing, we have consistently added more talent across the business to build even greater strength and depth. A 
key focus is engineering where we will continue to add talent to partner effectively with our customers and address all the 
opportunities we see before us.

Our strategy remains what we reported in last year, the safety and career development to our people remain a priority and we once 
again attained zero fatality and extremely low accident rates comparing with statistic figures of the industry. Our long term goal 
remains attracting, engaging, retaining and developing the best people for the Group and our customers.

OUTLOOK
The new financial year has begun against a background of ongoing macroeconomic and political uncertainties. While we are not 
immune from the impact of external events, the Group has already taken its first step to diversify business outside Hong Kong and 
achieved a milestone to finish the first coal transshipment season. We continue cautiously to maintain sufficient fund flow and work 
force of the Group for effective operation and further expansion of our business, and provide profitable returns from our 
investment.

Lo Yuen Cheong
Chairman
19 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Overview
The Group is principally engaged in providing civil engineering services in Hong Kong as a main contractor.

The engineering works undertaken by the Group are mainly related to (i) roads and drainage (including associated building works 
and electrical and mechanical works); (ii) site formation (including associated infrastructure works); and (iii) port works (including 
barging facilities for marine logistics of construction materials). The Group undertakes engineering projects in both public and 
private sectors and, being a main contractor, participates in the procurement of materials, machineries and equipment, selection of 
subcontractors, carrying out onsite supervision, monitoring work progress and overall co-ordination of day-to-day work of the 
projects.

Construction contracts are normally awarded through competitive tendering process. The Group determines a tender price by 
estimating the construction costs under the contract duration as specified in the tender invitation documents. One of the principal 
risks of the Group is that any error or inaccurate estimation of project costs when determining the tender price may result in 
substantial loss. As such, the Group has a tender department formed by a high calibre and committed professional workforce to 
fully support the tendering process, to ensure the accuracy and to bring the best interests to the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had seven projects in progress, and several completed projects yet to receive the final contract 
sum, with a total estimated outstanding contract sum and work order value of approximately HK$631.3 million.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management considers that the followings are the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group:

(i) the business of the Group relies on successful tenders and any failure of the Group to secure tender contracts would affect 
the operations and financial results of the Group;

(ii) erroneous or inaccurate estimation of project duration and the costs involved when determining the tender price may 
adversely affect the profitability and financial performance of the Group;

(iii) the historical revenue and profit margin may not be indicative of the future revenue and profit margin of the Group; and

(iv) any delay or defects of the suppliers’ and subcontractors’ works of the Group would adversely affect its operations and 
financial results.

Customers and suppliers
The major customers of the Group are the HKSAR Government and certain reputable organisations. The public sector customers 
are normally required to make payments to the Group within 21 days after the issue of the progress certificate by the authorised 
person, while the private sector customers are normally required to make payments to the Group within 60 days after the issue of 
the invoice. As at the date of this report, all of the trade receivables have been subsequently settled. The management of the Group 
considers that the credit risk is limited in this regard.

On the other hand, the Group maintains a good relationship with its key subcontractors and suppliers, and no warnings relating to 
the supply or quality of materials has been received. We have performed subcontractor and supplier annual performance 
evaluations and the results are satisfactory.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Environmental policies
The Group has also observed the laws and regulations in relation to environmental protection in Hong Kong, such as Air Pollution 
Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance, Dumping at Sea 
Ordinance, Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance and Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance. Prior to the 
commencement of work, the Group will assess the implications and requirements of the aforesaid laws and regulations and apply 
for necessary permits (if applicable) to conduct its work. The Group also ensures that the subcontractors and their workers comply 
with the Group’s environmental management policy on the basis of appropriate education, training and/or expertise. In particular, 
the Group holds regular meetings with them to discuss environmental related issues during the course of a project. The breach of 
the aforesaid laws and regulations may lead to penalty or fine by the relevant government authorities or even suspension of works. 
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was in compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations in all 
material aspects.

Compliance with laws and regulations
Saved as disclosed in the compliance with environmental laws and regulations mentioned above, the Group has been in compliance 
in all material respects with all the other relevant laws, rules and regulations. The Group will continue to deploy adequate resources 
and make an effort to maintain and enhance internal control in order to mitigate any non-compliance issues.

Future outlook
The construction industry in Hong Kong went from bad to worse following the US-China trade conflict, then social unrest and lately 
the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020. We are experiencing challenges and pressure on delay on contract completion. The disruption 
to the supply chains due to the temporary suspension of production in China and closure of some borders has induced construction 
cost higher than original forecast.

Although Hong Kong Government continues to have a bold vision and commitment to continuing to develop its infrastructure and 
built environment, there are problems within the government getting budgets approved for each new project in a timely manner. 
This problem has been further impacted by months of protest, and now COVID-19 pandemic. The inflicted reduction and amount 
of approved Public Works by Public Work Sub-Committee and Finance Committee will impose uncertainty and tread on the already 
over-competitive construction market in year 2021.

On a brighter note, our 20.3% owned One Belt One Road project in Pakistan has commenced operation since early October 2019 
and we began to recognise the shared profit in the second half of 2019/2020. Over 2.2 million tons of coal were transshipped from 
the incoming ocean going vessels to the jetty up to the end of April 2020. We managed to overcome various technical issues and 
we can meet the growing demand for coal transshipment demanded by the power plant.

We remain focused on ensuring that the projects on hand and new transshipment business will deliver the forecast cost savings and 
profits, which will underpin our performance. Looking forward, we remain confident in the core competencies and prospect of the 
Group.

Employees and remuneration policies
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had an aggregate of 120 full-time employees (2019: 130 full-time employees) and total employee 
costs excluding directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$64.1 million (2019: HK$56.0 million). 
The Group was in compliance with Employment Ordinance, Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and other applicable regulations, 
and salary payment was made on time without any dispute. Competitive remuneration packages are structured for each employee 
commensurate with individual responsibility, qualifications, experience and performance. In addition, discretionary bonuses may be 
paid depending upon the financial performance of the Group as well as performance of the individual.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Revenue
The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$231.7 million, representing an increase of 
approximately 25.5% from approximately HK$184.6 million in the same period of the last financial year. This increase was mainly due 
to the combined effect of:

(i) higher revenue of approximately HK$49.0 million for two new public sector projects commenced during the year ended 31 
March 2020;

(ii) higher revenue of approximately HK$62.9 million for five projects in progress during the year ended 31 March 2020;

(iii) lower revenue of approximately HK$61.6 million and HK$2.6 million for a project completed during the year ended 31 March 
2020 and a project completed before 31 March 2019, respectively; and

(iv) lower service income from trading of construction materials of approximately HK$0.6 million during the year ended 31 March 
2020.

Gross profit and gross profit margin
The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$17.6 million, representing a decrease of 
approximately 21.4% from approximately HK$22.4 million in the same period of the last financial year.

The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 12.2% for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately 7.6% for the year 
ended 31 March 2020. With the adoption of NEC form of contract which is on a ‘Gain and Pain’ share basis with the client, the gross 
profits and/or gross profit margin for certain public works contracts were re-aligned that they would not be as high as those similar 
contracts undertaken in previous years.

Other income
Other income was approximately HK$2,502,000 and HK$2,384,000 for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, respectively. The 
increase was mainly due to the increase in management fee income, offset by the decrease in interest income during the year.

Other gains and losses
Other gains and losses switched from a gain of approximately HK$163,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to a loss of 
approximately HK$937,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020, primarily due to increase in net loss in fair value of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1,188,000, offset by the decrease in net exchange loss of approximately 
HK$88,000.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2020 were approximately HK$25.1 million, representing a decrease of 8.6% 
from approximately HK$27.4 million in the last financial year. This was mainly attributable to the decrease in the administrative staff 
costs and tender expenses.

Finance costs
The Group has obtained new bank borrowing during the year ended 31 March 2020 and accordingly bank loan interest expenses 
increased to approximately HK$160,000 (2019: HK$81,000). In addition, the Group recognised interest expenses on the lease 
liabilities of HK$38,000 (2019: nil) after the new adoption of HKFRS 16. Therefore, total finance costs amounted to approximately 
HK$198,000 (2019: HK$81,000).

Share of profit of an associate
Share of profit of an associate relates to the Group’s 20.3% interest in an associate for the provision of bareboat charter and coal 
transshipment services in Pakistan. With the commencement of operations since October 2019, the Group’s share of profit of an 
associate for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$8.7 million (2019: share of loss of HK$0.2 million).

Income tax credit
The Group recorded income tax credit of approximately HK$277,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$71,000).

Profit for the year
The Group switched from net loss of approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to a profit of approximately 
HK$2.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020, primarily due to strict cost control on administrative expenses and the recognition 
of share of profit of an associate during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Net assets of the Group increased by approximately 1.3% from approximately HK$235.5 million as at 31 March 2019 to 
approximately HK$238.5 million as at 31 March 2020.

Non-current assets increased from approximately HK$90.6 million as at 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$117.9 million as at 31 
March 2020, primarily due to investment in an associate and share of associated profit as set out in note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Net current assets decreased by approximately 17.0% from approximately HK$145.3 million as at 31 March 2019 to approximately 
HK$120.6 million as at 31 March 2020, primarily due to capital contribution of HK$22.0 million to an associate.

Liquidity and financial resources
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately HK$54.5 million (2019: HK$96.9 million), which were 
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. There is no major exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. The Group has not 
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging instruments.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of interest bearing bank borrowing of approximately HK$3.8 million (2019: HK$1.9 
million).

The Group has available unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately HK$54.5 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$49.3 
million).

Capital structure and gearing ratio
As at 31 March 2020, total equity was approximately HK$238.5 million (2019: HK$235.5 million) comprising ordinary share capital, 
share premium and reserves.

The gearing ratio of the Group, defined as a percentage of interest bearing liabilities divided by the total equity, was approximately 
1.6% as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 0.8%).

For details of pledged assets and performance bonds and contingent liability of the Group, please refer to notes 22 and 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements accordingly.

New business
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company did not commence any new type of business.

Significant investments
Rich Partner Global Limited, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, holds 20.3% shareholding in River King 
Management Holdings Limited (“River King”) with total investment of approximately HK$96.7 million made up to 31 March 2020 
which constituted significant investment of the Group in respect of the reporting period. River King is an investment holding 
company of a group which is principally engaged in vessel operation and services and particularly focused on One Belt One Road 
project of providing bareboat charter hire and coal transshipment services in Pakistan for a term of 15 years commencing from the 
last quarter of 2019. Relevant details of the project were disclosed in the announcements of the Company respectively dated 18 
January, 20 February and 31 May 2019. No market fair value was available for this private investment as at 31 March 2020. The 
investment is intended to be held for long term in contemplation of the positive development prospect in One Belt One Road in 
long run. As disclosed in the Chairman’s Statement of this annual report, it is expected this diversified business will provide constant 
profitable return to the Group in the coming years. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group shared associated profit of 
approximately HK$8.5 million attributable to the investment in River King and no dividends have been distributed by River King. 
Please refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for further information in respect of the investment.

Save as aforesaid, the Company did not hold any other significant investment during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies by 
the Company.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets
The Directors currently do not have any future plans for material investments or capital assets. The Directors will continue to monitor 
the industry and review its business expansion plans regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s best interests.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong, 67, is the Chairman and executive Director of the Company and also the chairman of Nomination Committee 
and member of Remuneration Committee. He is responsible for the financial and operational aspects of the Group, and is jointly 
responsible for the formulation of business development strategies of the Group.

Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong has over 39 years of experience in working in the civil engineering industry. He is qualified as a Chartered 
Engineer registered with The Engineering Council of the United Kingdom and a Registered Professional Engineer with Engineers 
Registration Board of Hong Kong. He is also a member of The Institution of Civil Engineers of the United Kingdom and a member 
of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong obtained a Master degree of Engineering (MEng) from The University of Sheffield in 1979, and a Master 
degree of Arts (MA) from The University of Oklahoma in 1998.

He is the brother of Mr. Lo Yick Cheong and the brother-in-law of Ms. Chan Wai Ying.

Mr. Lo Yick Cheong, 64, is the executive Director of the Company and also the member of Nomination Committee. He is 
responsible for the operations and business development and is jointly responsible for the formulation of business development 
strategies of our Group.

Mr. Lo Yick Cheong has over 38 years of experience in working in the engineering industry. He is qualified as a Chartered Engineer 
of The Engineering Council of the United Kingdom, and a Registered Professional Engineer with Engineers Registration Board of 
Hong Kong. He is also a member of The Institute of Marine Engineers of the United Kingdom, and a member of The Hong Kong 
Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Lo Yick Cheong obtained a diploma in Marine Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University) in 1976, a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with First Class Honours in Mechanical Engineering from 
University of Newcastle Upon Tyne in the United Kingdom in 1986, and a Master degree of Business Administration from University 
of Leicester in the United Kingdom in 1995. He attained a certificate of competency (Marine Engineer Officer), class 1 (Steamship 
and Motorship) at the Department of Transport in the United Kingdom in 1985.

He is the brother of Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong and the brother-in-law of Ms. Chan Wai Ying.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Chan Wai Ying, 55, is the non-executive Director of the Company and also the member of Audit Committee. She has over 25 
years of experience in accounting profession and she advises the board on internal control and financial management.

Ms. Chan Wai Ying is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

She is the sister-in-law of Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong and Mr. Lo Yick Cheong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Wai Tat Henry, 71, is the independent non-executive Director of the Company. He has over 45 years of experience 
working in the engineering industry. He had worked with the Hong Kong Government as structural engineer from May 1980 to 
December 1982. He also had six years of experience working in Australia. From March 1984 to June 1986, he worked with 
Macdonald Wagner Pty Limited and was promoted to the position of senior engineer. From June 1986 to May 1989, he worked with 
Transfield Construction Pty Limited as a structured engineer. He was employed by Jacobs China Limited for the period from 
September 1990 to March 2005. His last position was managing director.

Mr. Leung graduated with a Bachelor degree of Science in Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in November 1973 and a 
Master degree of Engineering Science from The University of Sydney, Australia in May 1984. He is a member of The Institution of 
Civil Engineers of the United Kingdom, a fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and a fellow of The Institution of 
Structural Engineers of the United Kingdom. He is also a Registered Professional Engineer with Engineers Registration Board of 
Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Professor Lo Man Chi, JP, 54, is the independent non-executive Director of the Company. She has joined The Hong Kong University 
of Science and Technology since 1992, and is currently a full professor in the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering. 
She has extensive research and practical experience in the field of civil and environmental engineering, and produced various 
academic publications.

Professor Lo is an elected Academician of class VI — Technical and Environmental Sciences of the European Academy of Sciences 
and Arts in July 2014. She is a fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a fellow of American Society of Civil Engineers. 
She was the chairperson of the Environmental Division of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. She obtained a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Engineering from National Taiwan University in 1988, as well as a Master of Science degree in Engineering, and a 
Doctor of Philosophy degree from The University of Texas at Austin in 1990 and 1992, respectively.

Ms. Chau Wai Yung, 35, is the independent non-executive Director of the Company. She is an associate member of Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and has worked as an accountant with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for more than 4 years. 
Thereafter, she joined the corporate recovery & forensic services department of Mazars CPA Limited from March 2011 to September 
2012. From 2014 to 2016, she worked as a project manager consultant with Vieste Investments Limited. She currently works in 
Corporate Strategy and Development Department with Li Tong Group.

Ms. Chau graduated with a Bachelor degree of Social Sciences with first class honours from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 
May 2006. She also obtained a postgraduate certificate in professional accounting from City University of Hong Kong in summer 
2006.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Chiu Kwok Ming, 56, is the assistant general manager (estimating, procurement, health & safety, and quality assurance) of the 
Group. He leads the Group’s tendering department, and assumes the responsibility for our Group’s quality assurance affairs, 
together with our Group’s health and safety, and environmental management.

Mr. Chiu has over 34 years of experience working in the civil engineering industry and he was trained as a lead auditor for 
implementing and monitoring quality assurance of the Group.

Mr. Wan Ho Yin, 42, is the chief financial officer and company secretary of the Group. He is responsible for the Group’s financial 
affairs, engaging and overseeing all aspects of the corporate financial activities, internal control, treasury, and investors’ relation of 
our Group.

Mr. Wan is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, and has over 19 years of experience in accounting profession.

Mr. Lam Tat Shing, 42, is the senior project manager of the Group. He is responsible for site operation and management of civil 
and marine projects.

Mr. Lam is a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and has over 20 years of experience working in the civil 
engineering industry. He also has experience of port works and fill management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and provision of corporate management services.

The activities of its joint operations and principal subsidiaries (set out in notes 37 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements) 
are engaged in construction and civil engineering works.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 35 of the annual report and in accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Directors acknowledge the importance of stakeholders’ engagement and it is the Company’s dividend policy to contemplate at 
least two times a year (prior to the announcement of annual and interim results) on the distribution of a dividend. While the 
Directors endeavour to share the Group’s results with shareholders by way of a dividend, the portion and actual amount of 
distribution out of profits will be determined by the Directors having regard to a variety of factors, including but not limited to the 
Group’s actual and expecting operating results and conditions, gearing level, general financial condition, availability of cash, future 
plans and funding needs for expansion.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of the Company (the 
“Articles of Association”). The dividend policy will be reviewed periodically and when necessary in light of changes in circumstances 
and regulatory requirements. There is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

The Board does not recommend final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 37 and note 39 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 84 of this 
annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 19 
August 2020 (the “2020 Annual General Meeting”), the register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 14 August 
2020, to Wednesday, 19 August 2020, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company (the “Shares”) 
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2020 Annual General Meeting, the unregistered holders of shares 
of the Company are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must 
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 August 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements 
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$36,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Lo Yuen Cheong (Chairman)
Lo Yick Cheong

Non-executive Director:
Chan Wai Ying

Independent non-executive Directors:
Leung Wai Tat Henry
Lo Man Chi
Chau Wai Yung

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, one-third of the existing Directors shall retire and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Leung Wai Tat Henry and Ms. Chau 
Wai Yung will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in 
this report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company. The service contracts are initially for a fixed 
term of three years and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

Non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a fixed term of two years and the 
appointment is subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association with regard to vacation of office of Directors, removal and 
retirement by rotation of Directors.

Other than as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or 
existed during the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by the management on the basis of their merits, qualifications and 
competence.

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the Board on the remuneration and other benefits paid by the 
Company to the Directors by reference to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market rates. 
The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their 
remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

As at 31 March 20120 the Group had an aggregate of 120 (2019: 130) full-time employees. Employee costs excluding directors’ 
emoluments totalled approximately HK$64.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$56.0 million). The Group recruited 
and promoted the employees according to their strengths and development potential. The Group determined the remuneration 
packages of all employees including the directors with reference to individual performance and current market salary scale.

Details of Directors’, Chief Executive’s and employees’ emoluments are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the above, a share option scheme is adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors and employees for the continual 
operation and development of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions and Connected Transactions”, no transactions, 
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its 
holding company was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable 
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
A. Directors’ and the Chief Executive’s interests in the shares of the Company

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and/or short positions of the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they are taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO), which or were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Name of Director and 
Group member/
associated corporation Capacity/nature

Number of
issued ordinary

shares held
(long position)

Percentage of
the issued

share capital
of the company

    

Lo Yuen Cheong of the Company Beneficiary and co-founder of 300,372,000 71.55%
 a discretionary trust, interest
 in a controlled corporation
 and interest in spouse (Note)

Beneficial owner 4,512,000 1.07%

Lo Yick Cheong of the Company Beneficiary and co-founder of 300,372,000 71.55%
 a discretionary trust, interest
 in a controlled corporation
 and interest in spouse (Note)

Chan Wai Ying of the Company Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.36%

Leung Wai Tat Henry of the Company Beneficial owner 100,000 0.02%

Lo Yuen Cheong of Jade Vantage Beneficiary and co-founder of 50,000 of 100%
 Holdings Limited  a discretionary trust, interest US$1 each

 in a controlled corporation
 and interest in spouse (Note)

Lo Yick Cheong of Jade Vantage Beneficiary and co-founder of 50,000 of 100%
 Holdings Limited  a discretionary trust, interest US$1 each

 in a controlled corporation
 and interest in spouse (Note)

Note: Jade Vantage Holdings Limited, which owns 71.55% of the issued share capital of our Company, is owned as to 100% by LOs Brothers (PTC) 

Limited, the trustee of the Los Family Trust. Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong, Mr. Lo Yick Cheong and each of their spouses are co-founders of the Los Family 

Trust, which holds the entire issued share capital of Jade Vantage Holdings Limited, which holds 300,372,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lo 

Yuen Cheong and Mr. Lo Yick Cheong are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Jade Vantage Holdings Limited is 

interested.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO) as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange.

None of the Directors nor the Chief Executive (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any interest in, 
or had been granted, or exercised, any rights to subscribe for the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company 
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) during the year.

B. Substantial shareholders and other interests
As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the following persons (not being a Director or a Chief Executive of the 
Company) will have an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Name of shareholder Nature of interest

Number of 
issued ordinary

shares held
(long position)

Percentage of
the issued

share capital
of the Company

    

LOs Brothers (PTC) Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 300,372,000 71.55%

Jade Vantage Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 300,372,000 71.55%

Tam Wai Sze, Vera Beneficiary and co-founder of a 
 discretionary trust, interest in a 
 controlled corporation and 
 interest in spouse (Note)

300,372,000 71.55%

Beneficial owner 1,792,000 0.43%

Cheung Suk Ching, Savonne Beneficiary and co-founder of a 
 discretionary trust, interest in a 
 controlled corporation and 
 interest in spouse (Note)

300,372,000 71.55%

Note: Jade Vantage Holdings Limited, which owns 71.55% of the issued share capital of our Company, is owned as to 100% by LOs Brothers (PTC) 

Limited, the trustee of the Los Family Trust. Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong, Mr. Lo Yick Cheong and each of their spouses are co-founders of the Los Family 

Trust, which holds the entire issued share capital of Jade Vantage Holdings Limited, which holds 300,372,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lo 

Yuen Cheong and Mr. Lo Yick Cheong are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Jade Vantage Holdings Limited is 

interested.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) has an interest or a short 
position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company conditionally adopted the share option scheme on 3 June 2015, and such scheme has become effective on the listing 
of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is 
to recognise and acknowledge the contribution of the eligible participants made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, 
grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors), the 
Company’s subsidiaries, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers have contributed or will contribute to the 
Group. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in 
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the grant date, unless otherwise approved by the shareholders 
of the Company in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules. The subscription price of a share 
in respect of a particular option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation 
sheet of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange 
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share. The Share Option Scheme 
shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from that date.

No option was granted or exercised during the year ended 31 March 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the five largest customers of the Group and the single largest customer of the Group accounted 
for approximately 94.6% and 51.5% (2019: 91.3% and 44.2%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. The five largest 
suppliers and the single largest supplier of the Group during the year accounted for approximately 39.6% and 12.0% (2019: 50.8% 
and 16.3%) of the total purchases of the Group, respectively. The five largest subcontractors and the single largest subcontractor of 
the Group during the year accounted for approximately 75.5% and 39.5% (2019: 72.1% and 26.6%) of the total subcontracting fee of 
the Group, respectively.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their associates, within the meaning of the Listing Rules, or those 
shareholders which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital have an interest in any of 
the five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers/subcontractors of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business are provided under note 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing 
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the 
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year 
ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she is neither engaged, nor interested, in any business which, directly or indirectly, 
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders 
or any of its subsidiaries during the year and there is no contract of significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling 
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong, Mr. Lo Yick Cheong, Ms. Tam Wai Sze, Vera, Ms. Cheung Suk Ching, Savonne, Jade Vantage Holdings Limited 
and LOs Brothers (PTC) Limited entered into a deed of non-competition dated 3 June 2015 (the “Deed of Non- Competition”) so as 
to better safeguard the Group from any potential competition and to formalise the principles for the management of potential 
conflicts between them and to enhance its corporate governance in connection with the listing of the shares on the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors were delegated with the authority to review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the 
Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-compliance of Deed of Non-
Competition during the year ended 31 March 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the 
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil 
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for its Directors and officers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of the Company are committed to maintain high standards of corporate governance with the Corporate Governance 
Code, as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules with exception of deviation. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate 
governance practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” contained in pages 16 to 24 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Detailed information on the Group’s business review is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” contained in pages 4 
to 7 of the annual report.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as 
Auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lo Yuen Cheong
Chairman and Executive Director
19 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance as it believes that good corporate 
governance practices are fundamental to the effective operation of a company and can enhance shareholders’ value as well as 
safeguard shareholders’ interests. The Company places strong emphasis on a quality Board, accountability, sound internal control, 
appropriate risk management, monitoring procedures and transparency to all shareholders and stakeholders.

The Company has adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set 
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2020, except for provision A.2.1 in respect of the separate roles 
of the chairman and chief executive officer.

According to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and should not 
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
responsible for the financial and operational aspects of the Group, and is jointly responsible for the formulation of business 
development strategies of the Group. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has 
the benefit of managing the Group’s business and overall operation in an efficient manner. The Board considers that the balance of 
power and authority under the present arrangement will not be impaired in light of the operations of the Board with half of them 
being independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the structure from time to time and shall adjust the situation 
when suitable circumstance arises.

THE BOARD
The Board has a balanced composition of members to ensure independent judgment being exercised in all discussions. The Board 
focuses on the overall strategies, policies and business plans of the Group, monitors the financial performance, internal controls and 
risk management of the Group. Executive Director and senior management are responsible for the day-to-day operations of the 
Group.

The composition of the Board and the individual attendance (Board meetings and annual general meeting) of each Director are set 
out below:

Attendance

Board 
meetings from 

1 April 2019 
to the date 

of this report
2019 annual 

general meeting
   

Executive Directors
Lo Yuen Cheong 5/5 1/1
Lo Yick Cheong 5/5 0/1

Non-executive Director
Chan Wai Ying 5/5 1/1

Independent non-executive Director
Leung Wai Tat Henry 5/5 1/1
Lo Man Chi 5/5 1/1
Chau Wai Yung 5/5 1/1

In compliance with Rules 3.10A, 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-executive 
Directors representing not less than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or 
accounting or related financial management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed 
“Directors and Senior Management” in this report. Save for the relationships as detailed in the biographical details, there is no 
other relationship among the Board to the best knowledge of the Board members. The Company has also maintained on its 
website and that of the Stock Exchange an updated list of its Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether they are 
independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company’s 
corporate communications.
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Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at approximately quarterly 
intervals. The Directors have full access to information on the Group and independent professional advice at all times whenever 
deemed necessary by the Directors.

Directors’ resolutions were passed by way of written resolutions or by physical meetings. The Company has to comply with the CG 
Code provisions with regard to the conduct of meetings, have annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting made 
available to Directors in advance and serve notice of regular Board meetings to all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting. 
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is required to be given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information have to be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before 
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the 
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and independent 
access to the senior management where necessary.

The Company’s Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the 
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive Director of his/her independence 
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be 
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, 
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are 
invited to serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, 
losses, expenses and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance policy covers legal action against its 
Directors and officers to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. No claim was made against the Directors and officers of the 
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Chairman and chief executive officer are two key aspects of the management of a company. Chairman performs the management 
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer performs the day-to-day management of the business.

The Company considered that both positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer require persons with in-depth knowledge 
and experience of the Group’s business. The Company will review the structure from time to time and shall adjust the situation 
when suitable circumstance arises.

During the year, Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong has been both the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. In addition to his 
responsibilities as Chairman leading and organising the business of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness, setting agenda and 
formulating overall strategies and policies of the Company, he has taken up the role of Chief Executive Officer to manage the 
Group’s business and overall operation in an efficient manner. The day-to-day business of the Group has been delegated to the 
divisional heads responsible for the different aspects of the business.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years, and will 
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

Non-executive Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for an initial term of two years 
and three years respectively. The appointments are subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association with regard 
to vacation of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of 
Association. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office 
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director 
shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at any 
annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors. 
Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEE
The Company established a Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee with terms of reference in 
compliance with the CG Code, which are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, being three independent non-executive Directors including Mr. 
Leung Wai Tat Henry, Prof. Lo Man Chi, JP and Ms. Chau Wai Yung, and two executive Directors including Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong and 
Mr. Lo Yick Cheong.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are regular reviewing of the Board composition, identifying and 
nominating suitable candidates as Board members, assessing of the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and 
Board evaluation.

The Board is of the view that the Nomination Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the year 
ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.

From 1 April 2019 up to the date of this report, two meetings of the nomination committee were held to review the size, 
composition and diversity of the Board, the policy for nomination of Directors and the procedures, process and criteria to select and 
recommend candidates for directorship during the year. The attendance of individual members in the meeting is set out below:

From
1 April 2019 to

Attendance date of this report
  

Lo Yuen Cheong (Chairman) 2/2
Lo Yick Cheong 2/2
Chau Wai Yung 2/2
Leung Wai Tat Henry 2/2
Lo Man Chi 2/2

The Board has amended and adopted a nomination policy with effect from 27 December 2018. The nomination of candidate(s) is 
made in accordance with certain selection criteria: (a) reputation for integrity; (b) accomplishment and experience; (c) commitment 
in respect of available time and relevant interest; and (d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service of members of the Board, in 
assessing and selecting proposed candidates for directorship. The relevant procedures are set out in nomination policy for the 
Nomination Committee to follow subject to provisions in the Company’s Articles of Association and applicable Listing Rules. The 
Board recognizes the need for appointment or re-election of directors, the following nomination procedures should be followed:

(a) The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) and 
diversity of the Board at least once annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to 
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

(b) The Nomination Committee shall identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make 
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.

(c) The Nomination Committee shall assess the independence of independent non-executive directors.

(d) The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election of directors and 
succession planning for directors.

(e) Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent non-executive directors at the general 
meeting, the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement 
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting.

(f) The Board shall have the final decision on all matters in respect of the recommendation of candidates to stand for election or 
re-election at any general meeting.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises of four members, being three independent non-executive Directors including 
Mr. Leung Wai Tat Henry, Prof. Lo Man Chi, JP and Ms. Chau Wai Yung, and one executive Director being Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the remuneration of the Directors and senior management and making 
recommendation to the Board for approval. The fees of the independent non-executive Directors are recommended by the 
Remuneration Committee to the Board for approval at the annual general meeting of the Company (with the relevant committee 
members abstaining from voting on the resolution concerning his/her own remuneration).

The Board is of the view that the Remuneration Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the year 
ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.

From 1 April 2019 up to the date of this report, two meetings of the remuneration committee were held to review the remuneration 
policy and the remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management. The attendance of individual members in the 
meeting is set out below:

From
1 April 2019 to

Attendance date of this report
  

Chau Wai Yung (Chairman) 2/2
Lo Yuen Cheong 2/2
Leung Wai Tat Henry 2/2
Lo Man Chi 2/2

Details of the directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements of this annual report. The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by band for the year ended 31 March 
2020 is set out below:

Remuneration band
Number of senior 

management
  

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises of four members, being three independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Leung 
Wai Tat Henry, Prof. Lo Man Chi, JP and Ms. Chau Wai Yung, and one non-executive Director being Ms. Chan Wai Ying.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment 
and removal of the external auditor and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor and 
assessing their independence and performance, reviewing of the effectiveness of financial reporting processes, risk management 
and internal control systems, and the financial information and compliance of the Group. The Audit Committee meets at least twice 
a year with the Company’s external auditor to discuss the audit process and accounting issues.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the management the Group’s unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 September 
2019 and the audited annual results for the financial year ended 31 March 2020, and discussed internal controls, risk management 
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee also reviewed this report, and confirmed that this report complies with the 
applicable standard, the Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made. 
There is no disagreement between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the external 
auditors. The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities for the year 
ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.
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From 1 April 2019 up to the date of this report, three meetings of Audit Committee were held with attendance of individual 
members as set out below:

From
1 April 2019 to

Attendance date of this report
  

Leung Wai Tat Henry (Chairman) 3/3
Chan Wai Ying 3/3
Chau Wai Yung 3/3
Lo Man Chi 3/3

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the 
Group’s strategic objectives, and the management has designed, implemented and monitored of the risk management and internal 
control systems of the Group to provide reasonable assurance for achieving objectives and to review its effectiveness covering all 
material controls, including financial and operational aspects, and compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Rather than eliminating the risk of failure, each department within the Group is responsible for identifying, assessing and managing 
risks, as well as ensuring internal control systems and risk management are effective. The internal audit function is handled by our 
non-executive Director who is responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures and submitting 
the findings, recommendations and follow up actions to the Audit Committee, which provides independent review on effectiveness 
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and gives recommendation to the Board on a semi-annually 
basis.

The Board oversees the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, and considers the recommendation 
from the Audit Committee to resolve any internal control weakness, and to approve and take remedial action when necessary.

The review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications 
and experience, budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes have been 
conducted during the year ended 31 March 2020. The Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group to be effective and adequate in all material respects.

Disclosure of inside information
With reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission under 
section 399 of the SFO, the Board has implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside 
information. The Group has adopted a policy which aims to set out guidelines to the Group’s directors, officers and all relevant 
employees to ensure inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in 
accordance with the SFO and the Listing Rules.

QUALITY, HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
Quality
The Group has instituted an integrated management system, meeting the requirements of ISO9001:2008, the clients and the 
statutory regulations. The Group has also obtained ISO14001:2015 for the professional standards of quality, safety, environmental 
and operation management.

The Group has consistently delivered products and services of the highest quality through a process of continuous improvement to 
earn social recognition and become the preferred partner with each of its valued clients.
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Health, safety and environmental
Health and safety of all those who visit and work on the Group’s sites, together with the protection of the environment, have been 
and will remain key priorities of the Group.

In addition to the three Board Committees of the Company, a robust Safety, Health and Environment Committee has been 
established to ensure that health, safety and environmental matters are appropriately managed by the Group. During the year, the 
Safety, Health and Environment Committee has continued to drive the continuous improvement of health, safety and environmental 
practices throughout the Group.

The committee members include an executive Director, an assistant general manager for operation, an assistant general manager 
for quality and health, safety and environmental management, and the safety manager and they meet formally bimonthly unless 
they are notified to the contrary.

The role of the Safety, Health and Environment Committee is to:

• Build and sustain an Incident/Injury-free working environment;

• Create a positive health, safety and environmental culture;

• Implement an effective health, safety and environmental Management System and proactively manage health, safety and 
environmental performance.

The Group has improved its overall safety performance and achieved its ultimate goal of zero fatal accident and extremely low 
reportable accident case for the year. For the year ahead, the Safety, Health and Environment Committee will continue to promote 
the benefits of health, safety and environmental practices and reduce the Group’s accident frequency rate.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance and hence 
the purpose of the Board Diversity Policy aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of Directors, in terms of skills, 
experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age and gender. In particular, the representation of men and women on 
the Board has reached 50%:50%. We believe gender diversity enables better problem solving and brings different perspectives and 
approaches issues differently, leading to improved decision making processes. These differences are taken into account in 
determining the optimum composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee discusses the measurable objectives for 
implementing diversity on the Board from time to time and recommends them to the Board for adoption.

The Nomination Committee reports annually on the composition of the Board from diversified perspectives, and monitor the 
implementation of this policy to ensure the effectiveness of this policy. It also discusses any revisions that may be required, and 
recommends any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The 
Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, as well as placing an appropriate emphasis on the 
roles, functions and duties of the Directors.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training and they have 
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2020 to the Company.
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A summary of continuous professional development each Director participated in during the year ended 31 March 2020, according 
to the records provided, is set out below:

Name of Directors

Attending internal 
briefings or 

trainings, 
participating 
seminars or 

reviewing materials
  

Executive Directors
Lo Yuen Cheong ✓

Lo Yick Cheong ✓

Non-executive Director
Chan Wai Ying ✓

Independent non-executive Directors
Leung Wai Tat Henry ✓

Lo Man Chi ✓

Chau Wai Yung ✓

All the Directors attended a training session conducted by the Company’s legal adviser relating to directors’ duties and 
responsibilities under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out 
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2020.

DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS
The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall 
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve 
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with 
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to 
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and the 
senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the 
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the aforesaid officers.
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ACCOUNTABILITY
The Directors are acknowledged of their responsibility for preparing of the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
March 2020 under applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of 
operations and cashflow of the Group. The Directors ensure that the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 were 
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and the applicable accounting standards, and have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

The management has provided sufficient explanation and information of the Group’s financial, operational performance as well as 
business development and also with management accounts and monthly updates to the Board to enable the Board to make an 
informed assessment of the Group’s performance, financial position and Group’s prospects to enable the Board and each Director 
to discharge their duties. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast 
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group recognises that the independence of an external auditor is a fundamental governance principle. External auditor 
provides the Board and shareholders an objective assurance on whether the financial statements fairly represent the financial 
position and performance of the Group in all material aspects.

The working scope and reporting responsibilities of the external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out on pages 31 to 34 
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Company Secretary
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company, Mr. Wan Ho Yin, a full time 
employee of the Company. Please refer to his biographical details as set out on page 9 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Wan Ho Yin has taken not less than 15 hours of professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights
The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information concerning 
the Group’s material developments to shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint another person as his/her 
proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her. Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company 
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require 
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution would be proposed for each substantially separate issue at 
shareholder meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be 
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each shareholder meeting.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, the procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may write to the company secretary of the Company at Unit D, 
10/F, Skyline Tower, 18 Tong Mi Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to make proposals or move resolutions at shareholders’ meeting under the Articles of 
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may, however, 
convene an extraordinary general meeting as set out above.
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Auditor’s remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, amounted 
to HK$1,720,000 in respect of the annual audit and interim review services of the Company.

The statement of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, regarding their reporting responsibilities is 
set out in pages 31 to 34 in the Independent Auditor’s Report forming part of this annual report.

Independent auditor
The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the audit 
process. It receives each year letter from the independent auditor confirming their independence and objectivity and holds 
meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and 
appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board 
on the appointment and retention of the independent auditor.

Investor relations
There was no significant amendment made to the constitutional documents of the Company during the year.

The Group recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information. The Company’s corporate website 
www.manking.com.hk, which features a dedicated Investor Relations section, facilitates effective communication with shareholders, 
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information and other relevant financial and non-financial information available 
electronically and in a timely manner. Latest information of the Company includes announcements, press releases and constitutional 
documents.

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor relationships. Comments 
and suggestions are welcome, and they can be addressed to the Group by mail or by email at manking@manking.com.hk.
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The Group has implemented internal environmental policies by setting up the Safety, Health and Environment Committee aiming 
to ensure that the environmental matters are appropriately managed by the Group. The Group has obtained ISO14001:2015, a 
certified environmental management system aiming to follow and to promote good sustainability practice, to reduce our negative 
impacts of all our activities by using least resource practicable, developing smarter method of construction, and creating processes 
to deliver projects more efficiently, and influencing our clients to do the same.

For the purpose of enhancing transparency of our policies and procedures and establishing a channel of communication with our 
stakeholders, we have identified material environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) policies and performance for the period 
from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”) with reference to Appendix 27 — Environmental, Social and 
Governance Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules, and discussed each as below:

IDENTIFIED MATERIAL ASSESSMENT FOR ESG ASPECTS
Environmental
Emissions (air, noise, water) Use of resources
Waste mitigation measures

Social
Employment and labour practices Supply chain management
Training and development Anti-corruption
Health and safety Community investment
Labour standards

ENVIRONMENTAL
(i) Air (Carbon emissions)

The Air Pollution Control Ordinance provides powers to statutory authorities to control air pollutants from a variety of 
stationary and mobile sources, including fugitive dust emissions from construction sites. The Ordinance also provides license 
control on certain polluting industrial processes known as “specified processes” such as concrete batching. The aim is to 
properly control and monitor the air pollution caused by the industries that have significant pollution potential.

Over 50% of the Group’s carbon emissions contribute comes from fuel used in cars and goods vehicles owned and operated 
by the subsidiaries or joint operations of the Group. We reduced these emissions through a combination of investment in new 
fuel efficient vehicles and driver training. In this regard, we had disposed 4 old diesel vehicles in the last financial year and all 
the previous Euro II or III commercial vehicles have been replaced by Euro V commercial vehicles, all of which have better air 
emissions performance. We have also provided to our project clients with cars driven by electricity instead of fuel, so as to 
help mitigate the carbon emission.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance on the relevant laws and regulations for the above 
matters.

(ii) Noise
To help mitigate the negative construction impacts to the public, we carry out all construction activities only during the 
permitted hours and days. We carry out construction works using powered mechanical equipment with silence devices. In 
addition, our project sites have set up retrofitting noise barriers and limitation of speed of site vehicles within 20km/h to 
reduce noise generation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations on noise 
emission control, and had not received any direct complaints from the public and fines or warning notices from the 
Environmental Protection Department.

(iii) Water
To fully comply with The Water Pollution Control Ordinance which governs waste water discharged by our construction site, 
all our projects apply and maintain valid license before any of these discharges commence.

We have carried out comprehensive water quality mitigation measures to comply with the regulations as well as better 
management on water resources for each project, mainly focusing on water conversation and discharge quality. Each project 
monitors its water use and consumption. One of our projects in Shatin has made use of the water flowing through the site for 
construction use. Such water is suitable for construction purposes and, if not used, will be discharged at the end of Shing Mun 
River to Tolo Harbour.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and had not received 
any complaints or fines or warning notices from the public or the relevant environmental agencies on our wastes water 
disposal activities.

(iv) Waste mitigation measures
Managing waste is a key environmental issue of the Group and we recognise that the construction activities may affect the 
environment in a number of ways and commit to minimise the potential negative impacts on a site-by-site basis, taking into 
account the size, constraints and type of the project. The hierarchy adopted is based on reuse, recycling, reduction, recovery 
and at the last resort, treatment prior to disposal.

Type of Waste
Works requiring 
Waste Mitigation Measures Mitigation Measures

   

Construction Waste Construction mainly comprises:

1. Road works

2. Earthworks

3. Drainage and Sewerage works

4. Water works

(a) Appl icat ion of  proper  procedures  and 
controlled conditions to minimise concrete 
wastage.

(b) A reconciliation of concrete supplied and 
volumes placed wil l  be supplied to the 
engineer and/or foreman to enable him to 
check that wastage volumes are kept within 
reasonable limits.

Formwork/
 Steel Waste

Construction mainly comprises:

1. Road works

2. Earthworks

3. Drainage and Sewerage works

4. Water works

(a) Reusable metal forms will be used for drainage 
works so that large wastage of planks and 
timber can be minimised.

(b) Careful design and planning to avoid over 
ordering of timber for formwork.

(c) Maximise the use of standard timber faced 
panels for repetitive reuse.

(d) To minimise steel wastage, steel structure for 
roofing, walkway, will be prefabricated prior to 
delivery to site.

Demolition Waste 1. Mainly due to site clearance

2. Existing staircase

(a) As these volumes of waste are unavoidable, 
s ite works areas and haul roads wil l  be 
contained as far as possible to limit site 
clearance waste.

(b) Removal of debris, temporary or permanent 
structures and other items arising from site 
clearance.
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Type of Waste
Works requiring 
Waste Mitigation Measures Mitigation Measures

   

Chemical Waste Form oil, retarder, bonding agent, diesel 
for poker vibrator and generator, etc., used 
in the construction of

1. Road works

2. Earthworks

3. Drainage and Sewerage works

4. Water works

(a) Adjacent to the sorting facility/site boundary, 
will be a chemical storage area for keeping 
chemicals to avoid accidental leakage into the 
ground and with a chemical waste storage area 
next to it for placement of chemical waste and 
its disposal by a chemical waste collector.

(b) Chemicals will be placed in the chemical 
storage area or in a bunded area to avoid 
accidental spillage.

(c) Accidental spil lage of chemicals wil l  be 
properly treated to avoid passing into the 
drainage system.

(d) Will register as a chemical waste producer with 
Environmental Protection Department of 
HKSAR.

Sorting of Waste 
 for recycle prior 
 to disposal

Waste generated from the construction 
includes:

1. Road works

2. Earthworks

3. Drainage and Sewerage works

4. Water works Excavation & backfilling

5. Slope works

6. Removal of debris, temporary or 
permanent structures and other items 
arising from site clearance

(a) Sorting area and chemical storage areas to be 
arranged.

(b) Skip is made available for the collection of 
general waste for disposal.

(c) Sorting will take place at the designated area 
near the entrance and at the boundary of the 
site to allow for efficient sorting and disposal (if 
required).

(d) Waste water will be recycled for wheel washing 
and water spray to prevent dust generation.

(e) Site hoarding will be bunded to avoid waste 
water flowing down the slope to the nearby 
premises.

(f) Manhole will also be bunded with sand bags to 
avoid waste water entering as a result of 
surface run-off due to rain.

(g) Licence to dump at the public fill will be 
applied for and will dump at the designated 
area as approved by Civil Engineering and 
Development Department of HKSAR.

The amount of materials that we purchase and the amount of waste thus generated is a direct cost to our business. Reduction 
in waste will make our business operate in a more efficient way and thus provide both economic and financial benefits. For 
example, we managed to divert a number of tuck loads fell trees from disposal to landfill for re-uses as horticultural features 
from our Tsing Yi project. This gives us great incentive and help to consistently reduce waste to landfill and increase re-use.
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(v) Use of resources
The below performance data are for reference only and they may vary significantly subject to the number of projects on hand 
and the stage of completion of each project:

Electricity 412,054 kWh
Water 9,482 m3

Petrol 21,545 litres
Diesel 283,676 litres
NOx emissions 515,611 g
SOx emissions 4,884 g
PM emissions 42,972 g
Scope 1 792 tCo2e
Scope 2 223 tCo2e
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 + Scope 2) 1,015 tCo2e
Non-hazardous waste 5,590 tonnes
Paper consumption 2,074 kg

Our hazardous waste mainly refers to the disposal of spent lube oil and empty plaint can where the quantities are minimal to 
the Group. We monitor the usage of resources regularly to prevent any abnormal usage. Explanation is required in our 
management meeting in the event that there is an abnormal usage of resources.

Since late 2017, we have reduced paper usage by implementing new human resource management system to allow 
employees accessing salary and leave record online to replace the payroll slip. We have also set up temperature monitor 
sensor at our site office to monitor any excessive electricity usage.

Apart from the above, we encourage our employees to reuse non-confidential waste paper and recycling and seasonal free of 
air-conditioner within the workplace, and always fully utilise the vehicles by planning the routes on daily basis.

SOCIAL
(i) Employment and labour practices

The Group has established and maintained fair and comprehensive employment policies and regulatory standards in 
compliance with the Employment Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and other applicable regulations, 
and provide equal opportunity and career development to all of the employees. As at 31 March 2020, the total workforce by 
gender, age group, employment type and employee by department are demonstrated as follow:

Gender

Male

Female

Female
19%

Male
81%

Age group

Age group>60
27%

20–30
14%

51–60
24% 41–50

16%

31–40
19%

20–30

31–40

41–50

51–60

>60

Employment type

Front lines

Back of�ce
support

Workers

Workers
23%

Back of�ce
support

11%

Front lines
66%

Tender

Engineering

Survey

Safety

Personnel and
administration

Finance and
procurement

Employee by department

Personnel
and

administration
15%

Finance and
procurement

3%

Safety
6%

Survey
15%

Engineering
59%

Tender
2%



29Man King Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2020

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group honoured all obligations to our employees including the payment of salaries and 
wages, holiday and leave, compensation, insurance and health benefits without disputes, violations or litigation related to 
employment.

There are approximately 460,000 workers in Hong Kong and 40% of them are older than 50. The retirement of old workers will 
exacerbate the problem of labour shortage. We face the same challenge and we continue to recruit young workers with 
attractive packages to maintain our productivity.

Diversity
We value the diverse background and experience of our people to make most of their talents. Gender emphasis on male is 
common in construction industry. However, the gender of our Board are well diversified and balanced. We believe it will bring 
the same benefit to the front line by recruiting more female employees in the future.

Employee Engagement and Retention
Our growth relies on our people. The number of staff depends on the number of projects on hand and our average staff 
turnover rate for the year is approximately 3.7%. We are proud of having a loyal and stable workforce. We continue to recruit 
and develop a number of apprentices, Vocational Training Council (VTC) and undergraduate placements. The Group, through 
its operation companies, has sponsored scholarships to VTC students in the past years. This provided a reliable access for 
recruitment of fresh talents.

(ii) Training and development
Providing training and development opportunities to our workforce is important in recruitment and retention of our 
employees. We know that work should be challenging, rewarding and stimulating and should be able to provide new 
opportunities to employees to overcome obstacles and develop skills. With this in mind, we make sure that all the staffs 
across every part of the business have regular opportunities to learn and grow.

In the last 2 years, we mainly focused on new NEC form of contract comprehensive training which was fully implemented for 
all public works last year. In current year, we have engaged an expert to provide professional development supervision, 
mentoring and counselling services to our selected civil engineering staff by way of group discussions, workshops and one-to-
one meeting with formal annual appraisal. We have also nominated employees to attend the core programs which were 
comprehensive and beneficial to personal development. Average training hours for each employee reached 4 hours during 
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Same as last year, we have also joined Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme organised by the Construction Industry 
Council to encourage on-site training for our engaged subcontractors. Development is important in recruitment and retention 
of our employees and we target to provide a minimum of 3 training days for each employee. We continue to sponsor our 
employees to engage in learning courses in technical apprenticeship programme and degree programme, and sponsor 
personnel self-development through the taking up of external training programs, seminars or diploma courses.

(iii) Health and safety
The health and safety requirements challenge our management to ensure it creates a safe working environment for all our 
staff. To ensure adequate protection for employees against accidents, instructions in relation to safety policies and 
procedures have been issued to departments and work sites on safety policies and procedures. Further, the Group has 
established Safety, Health and Environment Committee to drive the continuous improvement of health, safety and 
environmental practices throughout the Group. The Group has developed, implemented and maintained a safety 
management system to:

• Build a positive health and safety culture within 
the workforce

• Improve the effectiveness of safety and health systems

• Properly implement safety and health control 
measures

• Efficiently use of resources

• Minimize accidents/near misses • Enhance productivity

• Deliver the project on time • Enhance communication between project team and 
stakeholders.
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Through the concerted efforts of all parties concerned, the Group has no fatal accident in the current and past years, and one 
reportable accident in the current year. Regarding the reportable accident during the year, lost days due to work injury are 31. 
Comparing to the average accident rate per 1,000 workers of 31.7 and fatality rate per 1,000 workers of 0.025 in the 
construction industry in general extracted from the latest Occupational Safety and Health Statistics, the Group’s accident and 
fatality rates are far lower than the industry average.

In June 2019, the Group garnered Merit Award of CEDD Construction Site Safety Award 2018 for our Shatin project. The 
Group led the culture of ‘visible leadership’ on safety matters, with regular site visits by members of the Board during the 
year.

(iv) Labour standards
We have complied with all relevant laws and regulations as to protecting labour rights and taken reasonable steps to ensure 
that no forced labour, child labour and illegal labour are in our business operations, including the subcontractors worked with 
the Group. The Group has no record of employment conviction in the past 7 years.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any labour dispute records or any non-compliance cases on labour 
employment issues.

(v) Supply chain management
We have engaged over 120 suppliers and 80 subcontractors to carry out works for our projects based in Hong Kong. The 
Group maintains long term business relationship with them to ensure stable supply of materials or carrying out subcontracting 
works on time. Our site agents keep reviewing the performance of each supplier or subcontractor on an annual basis, focusing 
on their abilities to meet quality, cost, safety and schedule requirements, and other criteria such as competency, cooperation, 
communication and organisation of work. If the evaluation score for a particular supplier/subcontractor is below average, that 
supplier/subcontractor will be classified as a disqualified supplier/subcontractor and removed from the supplier/subcontractor 
register. Such performance evaluation will be reviewed by the management, and the supplier/subcontractor of unsatisfactory 
performance will be discussed in the project review meeting.

(vi) Anti-corruption
We always demonstrate strong commitment to anti-corruption business practices and have zero tolerance to corruption. We 
have implemented whistle-blowing policy statement and code of conduct on notice board to listen to the concerns of 
employee, and to make sure they know about the policy and how to make a disclosure. There is no legal case relating to 
bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering brought against the Group or its employees during the year. We continue to 
carry out regular review and update policy statement if necessary so as to ensure their effectiveness to strengthen the internal 
controls and compliance regime of the Group.

(vii) Community investment
We believe corporate social responsibility as a viable and necessary part of doing business. Our aim, as a responsible 
construction group, is to reduce this negative impact by approaching our business objectives responsibly and by responding 
to the different concerns and demands of those affected by our activities, while remaining profitable and competitive.

Our Group’s subsidiaries have been qualified as Caring Company launched by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service which 
is specifically geared to building strategic partnerships among businesses and non-profit organisations to create a more 
cohesive society.

We see the long-term and sustainable development in Hong Kong is crucial to our business, and that we continue to enhance 
our integrated strength as well as operating and management expertise to develop a new model for multifaceted investments 
and business development. We shall strive to create a solid and proactive proprietary framework for securing our position in 
the ever-changing market environment and be a valuable member of the community.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
MAN KING HOLDINGS LIMITED
萬景控股有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man King Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 35 to 83, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as 
at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Recognition of revenue from civil engineering works

We identified the recognition of revenue from civil engineering 
works as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively significant to 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Group recognised revenue from civil engineering works 
amounting to HK$231,661,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Revenue from civil engineering works is recognised over time 
during the course of construction by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of relevant performance 
obligation, measured based on output method with reference to 
certificates issued by independent surveyor or correspondence 
with customers.

In relation to the recognition of revenue from civil engineering 
works, we performed the following procedures, on a sample 
basis:

• Obtaining an understanding of the control over 
recognition of revenue from civil engineering works;

• Agreeing the contract sum and variation orders which 
impact the allocation of transaction price to respective 
s igned contracts ,  and the correspondence with 
customers;

• Discussing with the project managers to understand the 
status of completion of the relevant construction projects 
and the reasons for the change of budget contract value 
during the year; and

• Evaluating the reasonableness of progress towards 
complete satisfaction of relevant performance obligation 
of civil engineering works as at year end by obtaining the 
cert i f icates  issued by independent  surveyor  or 
correspondence with customers and performing site visits 
to the construction sites.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a 
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Fung Hin Chiu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
19 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 5 231,661 184,635
Cost of services (214,024) (162,183)
    

Gross profit 17,637 22,452
Other income 6 2,502 2,384
Other gains and losses 7 (937) 163
Administrative expenses (25,047) (27,416)
Finance costs 8 (198) (81)
Share of profit (loss) of an associate 8,715 (207)
    

Profit (loss) before tax 2,672 (2,705)
Income tax credit 9 277 71
    

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) for the year 11 2,949 (2,634)
    

Earnings (loss) per share
 Basic (in HK cents) 13 0.70 (0.63)
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At 31 March 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 12,058 16,159
Right-of-use assets 15 607 –
Investment in an associate 16 105,220 74,469
    

117,885 90,628
    

Current assets
Inventories 4,477 8,063
Contract assets 18 49,775 49,781
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 19 41,436 35,022
Amounts due from joint operations 20 19,556 21,844
Tax recoverable 957 310
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 21 3,537 4,486
Debt investment at amortised cost 17 – 3,500
Pledged bank deposits 22 5,206 5,206
Bank balances and cash 22 54,506 96,909
    

179,450 225,121
    

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 23 3,356 2,889
Lease liabilities 24 604 –
Creditors and accrued charges 25 36,160 61,656
Amounts due to other partners of joint operations 20 14,422 13,364
Tax liabilities 492 19
Bank borrowings 26 3,805 1,873
    

58,839 79,801
    

Net current assets 120,611 145,320
    

Total assets less current liabilities 238,496 235,948

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 27 – 401
    

Net assets 238,496 235,547
    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 4,198 4,198
Share premium and reserves 234,298 231,349
    

Total equity 238,496 235,547
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 35 to 83 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 
June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

LO Yuen Cheong LO Yick Cheong
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Property
Share Share revaluation Other Retained

capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)
       

At 1 April 2018 4,198 86,474 1,193 33,600 127,410 252,875
Loss and total comprehensive expense 
 for the year – – – – (2,634) (2,634)
Dividend (note 12) – (14,694) – – – (14,694)
       

At 31 March 2019 4,198 71,780 1,193 33,600 124,776 235,547
Profit and total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – 2,949 2,949
       

At 31 March 2020 4,198 71,780 1,193 33,600 127,725 238,496
       

Note: As part of the group reorganisation, there are series of restructuring within Man King Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries mainly 

involved interspersing investment holding entities between the operating subsidiaries and investment holding companies. The difference between the 

Company’s share capital and the combined share capital of Concentric Construction Limited (“Concentric”) and Peako Engineering Co. Limited 

(“Peako”), the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, was credited to other reserve on 31 December 2014.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before tax 2,672 (2,705)
Adjustments for:
 Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL, net 788 652
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,237 4,834
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,387 –
 Finance costs 198 81
 Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment 1 3
 Share of (profit) loss of an associate (8,715) 207
 Unrealised exchange losses, net 149 237
 Interest income (558) (1,466)
   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,159 1,843
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL – 2,691
Decrease (increase) in inventories 3,586 (488)
Decrease in contract assets 6 9,001
(Increase) decrease in debtors, deposits and prepayments (6,414) 12,243
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from joint operations (83) 2,676
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 467 (16,271)
(Decrease) increase in creditors and accrued charges (25,496) 30
Increase in amounts due to other partners of joint operations 1,052 1,878
   

Cash (used in) generated from operations (25,723) 13,603
Income tax paid (298) (1,970)
Income tax refunded – 1,666
   

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (26,021) 13,299
   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 558 1,466
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,137) (2,517)
Advances to joint operations (6,090) (8,698)
Repayments from joint operations 8,461 4,152
Proceeds on disposal of debt investment at amortised cost 3,500 –
Acquisition of investment in an associate – (45,656)
Capital contribution to an associate (22,036) –
   

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (16,744) (51,253)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid for bank borrowings (160) (81)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (38) –
Raise of new bank borrowings 4,400 3,400
Repayment of bank borrowings (2,468) (4,553)
Repayment of lease liabilities (1,390) –
Dividend paid – (14,694)
Advances from other partners of joint operations 6 –
Repayment to other partners of joint operations – (2,596)
   

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 350 (18,524)
   

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (42,415) (56,478)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 96,909 153,624

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12 (237)
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 
 represented by bank balances and cash 54,506 96,909
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL
Man King Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate holding company is LOs Brothers 
(PTC) Limited and its immediate holding company is Jade Vantage Holdings Limited. The addresses of the registered office 
and principal place of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report. The Company 
acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as 
the “Group”) are provision of civil engineering works and trading of construction materials. Details of the Group’s subsidiaries 
are set out in note 38.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2015–2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in 
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), 
and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease
The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard to 
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which 
already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease 
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception or modification date.

As a lessee
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 
April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the 
related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised 
in the opening retained earnings and comparative information has not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical 
expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant 
to the respective lease contracts:

i. elected not to recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends with 12 months of the 
date of initial application; and

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets 
in similar economic environment. Specifically, discount rates for certain leases of properties in Hong Kong was 
determined on a portfolio basis.

On transition, the Group recognised lease liabilities of HK$1,994,000 and right-of-use assets of HK$1,994,000 as at 1 April 
2019.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental 
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted average lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate applied is 2.83%.

As at 
1 April 2019

HK$’000
  

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 March 2019 2,313
  

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental borrowing rates 2,270
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases (276)
  

Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 1,994
  

Analysed as:
 — Current 1,390
 — Non-current 604
  

1,994
  

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 comprises the following:

Right-of-use 
assets

HK$’000
  

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 1,994
  

Represented by:
 — Leased properties 1,994
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 
2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts

previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at

31 March 1 April
2019 Adjustments 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets – 1,994 1,994

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 1,390 1,390

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities – 604 604

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2020, movements in working 

capital have been computed, based on opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April 2019 as disclose above.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts1

Amendment to HKFRS16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concession5

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
 its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material4

Amendments to HKFRS 9, 
 HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was 
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS 
Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the above new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the 
consolidated financial statements included applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with 
HKFRS16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 
Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree 
to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the entities controlled by the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains 
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. When necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investment in an associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the 
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. 
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless 
such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional 
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an 
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any 
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any assets, that forms part of 
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest 
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former 
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest 
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant 
interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the 
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the 
same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain 
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the 
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group 
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal 
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that 
are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Interests in joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance 
with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution 
of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains 
and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent 
of other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets), 
the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services 
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct 
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group 
performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, 
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before 
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method (with 
certificates issued by independent surveyor or correspondence with customers as outputs), which is to recognise revenue on 
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the 
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of 
goods or services.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration
For revenue from civil engineering works that contain variable consideration such as variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payment, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a) the expected 
value method or (b) the most likely amount, depending on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to 
which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transactions price only to the extent that it is highly 
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of 
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of 
the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the reporting period.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its 
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to 
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by another 
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another party before that good or 
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or 
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by 
the other party.

The Group acts as an agent in generating the service income from trading of construction materials.

Leasing
Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations on or after the date of initial application, the 
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification 
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract 
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease 
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, and instead 
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably 
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from individual leases within the 
portfolio.
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Leasing (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site 
on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of 
the lease term is depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair 
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of 
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease 
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the 
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Leasing (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date 
of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review in which cases the 
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in 
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the 
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date 
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered as integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At the end of reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement benefits costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when 
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS 
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after 
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Share-based payment transactions of the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to directors of the Company and employees of the Group are measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions conditions of 
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest 
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, 
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment 
to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share 
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss profit before tax 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all 
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.
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Taxation (Continued)
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income 
Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of the 
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption. 
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption 
are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority 
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income as directly in equity, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any 
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, 
the relevant property revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained earnings.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property evidenced by the 
commencement of owner occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the 
date of change in use.

Inventories
Inventories, represent raw material purchased for construction, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs 
of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probably that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).



51Man King Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables and trade-nature 
amounts due from joint operations arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2019. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of 
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of 
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
asset of financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows; 
and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised 
cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, 
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that 
the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial assets.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade 
receivables, other debtors and deposits, contract assets, amounts due from joint operations, debt investment at amortised 
cost, pledged bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, trade-nature amounts due from joint operations and contract 
assets. The ECL for all debtors on these financial assets and contract assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL 
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit 
rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; or

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of 
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to 
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business 
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed 
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the 
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days 
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables and trade-nature amounts 
due from joint operations, when the amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if 
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is 
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at 
initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit 
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying 
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, trade-nature amounts due from joint operations and contract assets 
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to other partners of joint operations and bank 
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)
In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation 
can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of 
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group 
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or 
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of 
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in 
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair 
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that 
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of 
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company is required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations (which is dealt with separately below), that 
management of the Group has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that has the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Joint arrangements
The directors of the Company performed an assessment of whether the Group has joint control over the Group’s joint 
arrangements. Pursuant to the respective contractual agreements regarding each of these joint arrangements, all major 
decisions and the decisions regarding the relevant activities of these joint arrangements require the unanimous consent of all 
parties to the arrangement. Accordingly, the directors of the Company concluded that the Group has joint control over the 
joint arrangements.

The directors of the Company also assessed whether these joint arrangements are joint operations or joint ventures under 
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. After considering the rights and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference 
to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements, and the 
relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of the Company concluded that all of the Group’s joint arrangements should 
be classified as joint operations under HKFRS 11 as the relevant joint arrangement document specify that the parties to the 
joint arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainties
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
The ECL for all debtors are assessed individually for trade receivables and contract assets. The loss rates are based on the 
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable that 
is available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and 
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables 
and contract assets are disclosed in notes 33, 19 and 18 respectively.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s revenue represents the amount received and receivable for revenue arising on (1) civil engineering works and (2) 
service income from trading of construction materials.

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the 
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of services provided. For civil 
engineering works, each individual project constitutes an operating segment, and for operating segments that have similar 
economic characteristics, they are produced using similar production process, distributed and sold to similar classes of 
customers and under similar regulatory environment, and their segment information is aggregated as “civil engineering 
works” reportable segment. The Group also acts as agent for trading of construction materials which is an operating and 
reportable segment. No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities is disclosed as such information is not regularly provided 
to CODM for review.

(i) Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Civil Trading of
engineering construction

works materials Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Segment revenue
 External sales 231,661 – 231,661
    

Segment profit 17,637 – 17,637
   

Unallocated income, other gains and losses 1,565
Unallocated administrative expenses (25,047)
Unallocated finance costs (198)
Unallocated share of profit of an associate 8,715

 

Profit before tax 2,672
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Civil Trading of
engineering construction

works materials Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Segment revenue
 External sales 184,074 561 184,635
    

Segment profit 21,891 561 22,452
   

Unallocated income, other gains and losses 2,547
Unallocated administrative expenses (27,416)
Unallocated finance costs (81)
Unallocated share of loss of an associate (207)

 

Loss before tax (2,705)
 

(ii) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Civil engineering works 231,661 184,074
Service income from trading of construction materials – 561
   

231,661 184,635
   

Geographical markets
Hong Kong 231,661 184,074
Mainland China – 561
   

231,661 184,635
   

Time of revenue recognition
Over time 231,661 184,074
A point in time – 561
   

231,661 184,635
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(iii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Civil engineering works
The Group provides civil engineering works to customers. Such services are recognised as a performance obligation 
satisfied over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or 
enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these civil engineering works based on the stage of completion of the contract 
using output method.

The Group’s civil engineering works include payment schedules which require stage payments over the service period 
once certain specified milestones are reached. The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits. 
When the Group receives a deposit before construction commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start 
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract, is recognised over the period in which the 
construction services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services performed because 
the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving specified milestones. The contract assets are 
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect liability period, are classified as contract assets, which ranges from 
one to two years from the date of the practical completion of the services. The relevant amount of contract asset is 
reclassified to trade receivables when the defect liability period expires. The defect liability period serves as an 
assurance that the services performed comply with agreed upon specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased 
separately.

Service income from trading of construction materials
Service income from trading of construction materials was recognised at a point in time when the goods had been 
delivered to the customer’s specific location. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the Group 
concluded that the Group did not have an enforceable right to payment prior to the goods delivered to customers as 
they were entitled to the service income only when they had delivered the goods to the customers. The normal credit 
term was 30 days in accordance with the invoice date.

(iv) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with 
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) for civil 
engineering works as at 31 March 2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 232,378 181,836
More than one year but not more than two years 235,266 215,051
More than two years 126,882 233,957
   

594,526 630,844
   

(v) Geographical information
The Group’s revenue is mostly derived from operations in Hong Kong and the Group’s non-current assets are all 
located in Hong Kong.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(vi) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers in respect of civil engineering works contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is 
as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Customer 1 119,274 81,620
Customer 2 44,279 19,947
Customer 3 29,259 30,364
Customer 4 N/A* 33,751

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group in respective year.

No other revenue from transaction with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 
during both years.

6. OTHER INCOME

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank interest income 434 1,256
Interest income from debt investment at amortised cost 124 210
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 297 442
Management fee income 1,024 249
Others 623 227
   

2,502 2,384
   

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss) gain on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL, net (788) 400
Net exchange losses (149) (237)
   

(937) 163
   

8. FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on bank borrowings 160 81
Interest paid on lease liabilities 38 –
   

198 81
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9. INCOME TAX CREDIT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong Profits Tax
 Current year 500 438
 (Over)underprovision in prior years (376) 167
   

124 605
Deferred taxation (note 27) (401) (676)
   

(277) (71)
   

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) 
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on 
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity 
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for 
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, starting from the year 
ended 31 March 2018, the Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable 
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for a qualifying group entity.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no provision for taxation in Hong Kong was made for certain joint operations 
and subsidiaries of the Group as the assessable profits were relieved by the tax losses amounted to HK$4,435,000 (2019: 
HK$5,343,000).

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit (loss) before tax 2,672 (2,705)
   

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax Rate of 16.5% 441 (446)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 169 187
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,579) (315)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime – (165)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,732 1,412
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (732) (882)
(Over)underprovision in prior years (376) 167
Others 68 (29)
   

Income tax credit for the year (277) (71)
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors
The emoluments of the directors of Company are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fees 537 528
Salaries and other allowances 7,536 7,491
Discretionary bonus (note) 427 341
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 39
   

8,536 8,399
   

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined with consideration of the progress and performance of civil engineering works for both years.

Directors’ and chief executive’s remunerations for the year, disclosed pursuant to applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, are as follow:

2020 2019
Retirement Retirement

Salaries benefit Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme and other Discretionary scheme

Fees allowances bonus contributions Fees allowances bonus contributions
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Executive directors:
Lo Yuen Cheong – 4,052 100 – – 4,070 73 3
Lo Yick Cheong – 2,955 250 18 – 2,898 208 18
         

– 7,007 350 18 – 6,968 281 21
         

Non-executive director:
Chan Wai Ying – 529 77 18 – 523 60 18
         

Independent non-executive directors:
Leung Wai Tat Henry 179 – – – 176 – – –
Lo Man Chi 179 – – – 176 – – –
Chau Wai Yung 179 – – – 176 – – –
         

537 – – – 528 – – –
         

537 7,536 427 36 528 7,491 341 39
         

Mr. Lo Yuen Cheong is also the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services 
rendered by him as the chief executive. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive director’s emoluments and 
the independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 
the year.
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2019: two) are directors of the Company whose 
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: three) individuals are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other allowances 3,418 3,529
Discretionary bonus 570 1,029
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 36
   

4,024 4,594
   

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the 
following bands is as follows:

2020 2019
No. of No. of

employees employees
   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 2
   

3 3
   

11. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 10) 8,536 8,399
Other staff salaries and other allowances 62,649 54,418
Other staff retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,492 1,618
   

Total staff costs 72,677 64,435
   

Auditor’s remuneration 1,380 1,070
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,237 4,834
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,387 –
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment 1 3
Operating lease rentals in respect of land and building – 1,813
   

12. DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a final dividend of HK3.5 cents per share amounting to HK$14,694,000 in respect of the 
year ended 31 March 2018 was declared and paid to the owners of the Company.
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13. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 2,949 (2,634)
   

’000 ’000
   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
 basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 419,818 419,818
   

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no diluted loss per share was presented as there were no potential ordinary 
shares in issue.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and Leasehold Plant and Motor Office
building improvements machinery vehicles equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

COST
As at 1 April 2018 2,350 1,459 3,933 9,229 8,934 25,905
Additions – – 26 970 1,521 2,517
Written off – – – – (4) (4)
       

As at 31 March 2019 2,350 1,459 3,959 10,199 10,451 28,418
Additions – – – 487 650 1,137
Written off – – – – (1) (1)
       

As at 31 March 2020 2,350 1,459 3,959 10,686 11,100 29,554
       

DEPRECIATION
As at 1 April 2018 20 593 618 3,865 2,330 7,426
Provided for the year 79 292 791 1,486 2,186 4,834
Written off – – – – (1) (1)
       

As at 31 March 2019 99 885 1,409 5,351 4,515 12,259
Provided for the year 80 292 807 1,567 2,491 5,237
       

As at 31 March 2020 179 1,177 2,216 6,918 7,006 17,496
       

CARRYING VALUE
As at 31 March 2020 2,171 282 1,743 3,768 4,094 12,058
       

As at 31 March 2019 2,251 574 2,550 4,848 5,936 16,159
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into 
account their residual value, as follows:

Leasehold land and building 40 years or over the lease term, whichever is shorter
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease
Plant and machinery 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased
properties

HK$’000
  

As at 1 April 2019
Carrying amount 1,994
  

As at 31 March 2020
Carrying amount 607
  

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Depreciation charge 1,387
Expense relating to short-term leases 482
Total cash outflow for leases 1,910
  

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is 
enforceable.

16. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost of investment in an associate 96,712 74,676
Share of post-acquisition profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (expense) 8,508 (207)
   

105,220 74,469
   

On 18 January 2019, Rich Partner Global Limited (“Rich Partner”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered 
into the subscription agreement pursuant to which Rich Partner agreed to subscribe for 20.3% of the enlarged issued share 
capital of River King Management Holdings Limited (the “River King”) which in turn is an investment holding company of a 
group principally engaged in vessel operation and services with particular focus on bareboat charter hire and coal 
transhipment services project in Pakistan for a term of 15 years commencing from the second half of 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the shareholders of River King contributed further capital on pro rata basis with 
reference to their respective shareholding of River King. The capital contribution was made by the Group in form of cash.
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16. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Country of place of ownership interest voting rights

Name of entity incorporation business held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019 2020 2019

        

River King and its subsidiaries Hong Kong
 and Malta

Hong Kong and
 Pakistan

20.3% 20.3% 20.3% 20.3% Investment holding and provision of 
 bareboat charter hire services 
 and coal transhipment services

Summarised financial information of the associate
Summarised financial information in respect of River King is set out below. The summarised financial information below 
represents amounts shown in the River King’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current assets 54,318 55,063
   

Non-current assets 467,757 323,552
   

Current liabilities (3,875) (4,088)
   

Revenue 104,749 –
   

Profit (loss) for the year 42,931 (1,018)
   

17. DEBT INVESTMENT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Debt instrument, at amortised cost – 3,500
   

Analysis for reporting purposes as:
 Current asset – 3,500
   

The Group’s debt investment represented a debt instrument that was issued by a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and 
carried fixed interest at 6% per annum, payable quarterly, and matured in October 2019.
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18. CONTRACT ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Analysed as current:
 Unbilled revenue of civil engineering works (note a) 41,424 40,140
 Retention receivables of civil engineering works (note b) 8,351 9,641
   

49,775 49,781
   

Retention receivables of civil engineering works
 Due within one year 3,180 5,351
 Due after one year 5,171 4,290
   

8,351 9,641
   

Note:

(a) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to receive consideration for work completed but not yet billed because 

the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the work completed by the Group and the work is pending for the 

certification by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is 

typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed work from the customers.

(b) Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to receive consideration for work performed and not yet billed 

because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. 

The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date of the 

period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the service quality of the work performed by the Group.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 33.
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19. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 18,872 11,754
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments:
 — Deposits and prepaid expenses (note) 21,819 22,273
 — Others 745 995
   

41,436 35,022
   

Note: As at 31 March 2020, included in deposits and prepaid expenses is (i) a deposit of HK$3,348,000 (2019: HK$25,000) which has been placed and 

pledged to an insurance institution to secure performance bonds issued by that institution to customers of the Group (note 36); and (ii) a rental 

deposit of HK$238,000 (2019: HK$238,000) paid to C & P (Holdings) Hong Kong Limited, which is a related company of the Group (note 35). The 

remaining amounts mainly represent prepaid operating expenses and prepaid construction costs.

The Group allows credit period up to 60 days to certain customers. The aged analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based 
on certification date at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0–30 days 16,694 7,652
31–60 days 2,178 3,902
Over 60 days – 200
   

18,872 11,754
   

There is no past due balance as at 31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance 
were debtors with aggregate carrying amount HK$200,000 which was past due within 90 days and was not considered as in 
default. The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 33.
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20. AMOUNTS WITH JOINT OPERATIONS AND OTHER PARTNERS OF JOINT OPERATIONS
(i) The amounts due from joint operations comprise:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade related (note a) 346 263
Non-trade related (note b) 19,210 21,581
   

19,556 21,844
   

Note:

(a) The Group allows credit period of up 60 days on amounts due from joint operations. The aged analysis of the Group’s trade-related 

amounts due from joint operations based on invoice date at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0–30 days 346 69

31–60 days – 194
   

346 263
   

There is no past due balance as at 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

(b) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and expected to be realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 33.

(ii) The amounts due to other partners of joint operations comprise:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade related (note a) 11,686 10,634
Non-trade related (note b) 2,736 2,730
   

14,422 13,364
   

Note:

(a) The credit period on trade-related amounts due to other partners of joint operations is up to 60 days. The aged analysis of the Group’s 

trade-related amounts due to other partners of joint operations based on invoice date at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0–30 days 2,383 157

31–60 days 226 295

61–90 days – 126

Over 90 days 9,077 10,056
   

11,686 10,634
   

(b) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note a) 1,346 1,653
Global fund — unlisted (note b) 2,191 2,833
   

3,537 4,486
   

Note:

(a) The fair value of the listed equity securities were determined based on the quoted bid prices in an active market.

(b) The fair value of unlisted investment funds was determined by the fund administrator with reference to the net asset value of the investment fund.

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
The pledged bank deposits of the Group are pledged to a bank for securing the performance bond issued by the bank to a 
customer on one of the construction projects on behalf of the Group as a guarantee (see note 36). The project is expected to 
complete within one year after the end of the reporting period.

The bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and other short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less.

The pledged bank deposits/bank balances carry interest at market rates which are as follows:

2020 2019
   

Range of interest rate per annum:
 Pledged bank deposits 0.92%–1.54% 0.51%–1.31%
 Bank balances and cash 0.01%–3.35% 0.01%–2.10%

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 33.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Advances from customers of civil engineering works, current 3,356 2,889
   

Contract liabilities of the Group, which are expected to be utilised within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as 
current. Revenue from civil engineering works recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020 that was included in the 
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was HK$2,889,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit before the civil engineering works commence, this will give rise to contract liabilities at 
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES

2020
HK$’000

  

Lease liabilities payable shown under current liabilities:

Within one year 604
  

25. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables 15,789 16,059
Retention payables 11,445 11,284
Other payables and accruals:
 — Consideration payable for acquisition of an associate – 29,020
 — Accrued wages 4,073 4,167
 — Accrued operating expenses 99 20
 — Other payables 4,754 1,106
   

36,160 61,656
   

The credit period on trade purchases is 30 to 60 days. The aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on invoice date 
at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables:
 0–30 days 7,292 6,930
 31–60 days 8,338 7,881
 61–90 days 5 1,050
 Over 90 days 154 198
   

15,789 16,059
   

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Retention payables:
 Due within one year 3,319 3,744
 Due after one year 8,126 7,540
   

11,445 11,284
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26. BANK BORROWINGS
The variable-rate bank borrowings is repayable as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount repayable (according to scheduled repayment terms):
 — Within one year 2,167 1,176
 — More than one year, but not exceeding two years 1,512 697
 — More than two years, but not exceeding five years 126 –
   

3,805 1,873
Carrying amount that contains a repayment on demand clause (3,805) (1,873)
   

– –
   

The variable-rate borrowings as at 31 March 2020 are secured by corporate guarantee and carry interest at 3% per annum 
below the Best Lending Rate and 1.75% per annum above Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate offered by a bank (2019: 
secured by corporate guarantee and carry interest at 3% per annum below the Best Lending Rate).

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowing is denominated in HK$.

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities 
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balance for financial reporting purposes:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Deferred tax liabilities – 401
   

Accelerated
tax Tax

depreciation losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2018 2,108 (1,031) 1,077
Credit to profit or loss (575) (101) (676)
    

At 31 March 2019 1,533 (1,132) 401
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (530) 129 (401)
    

At 31 March 2020 1,003 (1,003) –
    

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised estimated tax losses of HK$28,737,000 (2019: HK$23,453,000) 
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$6,080,000 (2019: 
HK$6,858,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$22,657,000 (2019: 
HK$16,595,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses of Hong Kong subsidiaries may be carried 
forward indefinitely. Certain amounts of unused tax losses are subject to approval from the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 
Department.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movement of the share capital of the Company are as follows:

Number
of shares Amount

HK$
   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
 At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 200,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
   

Issued and fully paid:
 At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 419,818,000 4,198,180
   

None of the Company and its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The Group adopted a share option scheme on 3 June 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of Share Option Scheme 
is to provide any directors and full-time employees of any members of the Group, who have contributed or will contribute to 
the Group (“Participants”), with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage 
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit the Company with a flexible 
means of either retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Participants.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may invite Participants to take up options at a price 
determined by the board of directors provided that it shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to the grantee 
(which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares of the 
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the Offer 
Date; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 41,500,000 shares, representing 10% of the 
total number of shares in issue as at grant date unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to refresh 
the limit.

The maximum entitlement for any one Participant is that the total number of the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise 
of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding 
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue unless otherwise approved by the 
shareholders at a general meeting of the Company.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period 
which would be determined and notified by the board of directors to the grantee at the time of making an offer.

No option was granted or exercised during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. No shared-based payment was 
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Group operates a MPF Scheme for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of 5% of 
relevant payroll costs monthly to the MPF Scheme, subject to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 for each employee, which 
contribution is matched by employees. The total contribution to MPF Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to 
HK$1,528,000 (2019: HK$1,657,000).



73Man King Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee
The Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in 
respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:

2019
HK$’000

  

Within one year 1,704
In the second to fifth year inclusive 609
  

2,313
  

The leases are generally negotiated for lease terms ranging from 1 to 3 years at fixed rentals.

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the 
return to stakeholders and maintaining an adequate capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged 
throughout both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in note 26 and non-
trade amounts due to other partners of joint operations, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity, comprising fully paid 
share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the capital structure on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of 
capital and the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends and new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt and redemption of existing debt.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
33a. Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Amortised cost 100,258 141,539
Financial assets at FVTPL 3,537 4,486
   

103,795 146,025
   

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 50,819 72,706
   

33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include debt investment at amortised cost, financial assets at FVTPL, amounts 
with joint operations and other partners of joint operations, trade receivables, other debtors and deposits, pledged 
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank borrowings. Details of these financial 
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies 
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk
The group entities have foreign currency denominated monetary assets which expose the Group to foreign currency 
risk. The management of the Group believes the Group does not have significant foreign exchange exposures and will 
consider the use of foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce the currency exposures in case the foreign exchange 
exposures become significant.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary assets at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

Assets
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

United States Dollar (“USD”) 2 1
British Pound (“GBP”) 2,254 3,112
   

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of GBP. The directors of the Company considers that the Group does 
not have significant foreign currency exposure in relation to monetary items that are denominated in USD as HK$ is 
pegged to USD. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in the 
group entity’s respective functional currency, HK$ against GBP. 5% (2019: 5%) sensitivity rate is used which represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting 
period for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease in post-tax 
profit (2019: an increase in past-tax loss) for the year where HK$ strengthen against GBP. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening 
of HK$ against GBP, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit (2019: post-tax loss) for the 
year, and the balances shown as negative below would be positive.

Decrease in profit 
(2019: increase in loss)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

GBP (94) (130)
   

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign 
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure for both years.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities through its financial assets at FVTPL at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The directors of the Company manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. The 
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating in banking and infrastructure industries 
quoted on the Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at 31 March 2020 and 
2019.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 10% (2019: 10%) higher or lower, the post-tax profit (2019: 
post-tax loss) for the year ended 31 March 2020 would have increased or decreased (2019: decreased or increased) by 
HK$112,000 (2019: HK$138,000) as a result of changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances, variable-rate pledged bank deposits 
and variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 26 for details).

The directors of the Company considers that the cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances and variable-
rate pledged bank deposits is not significant as the fluctuation of the interest rates on bank balances and pledged bank 
deposits are minimal.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Best Lending Rate and Hong Kong 
Interbank Offered Rate arising from the Group’s HK$ denominated bank borrowings. A 50 basis point (2019: 50 basis 
point) increase or decrease in Best Lending Rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. As the impact 
of a 50 basis point fluctuation in Best Lending Rate and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate on the Group’s post-tax 
profit (2019: post-tax loss) for the year ended 31 March 2020 is insignificant, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of respective 
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or 
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables, trade-nature amounts due from joint operations and contract assets arising from contracts with 
customers
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has concentration risk on trade receivables and contract assets from the Group’s top 
three customers of 71% (2019: 62%). The major customers of the Group are certain reputable organisations and the 
management of the Group considered that the credit risk is insignificant after considering their historical settlement and 
credit quality.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the Company has delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring 
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring 
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit 
risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon application 
of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually.

Other debtors and deposits, non-trade nature amounts due from joint operations, debt investment at amortised cost, 
pledged bank deposits and bank balances
The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on other debtors and 
deposits, non-trade nature amounts due from joint operations, debt investment, pledged bank deposits and bank 
balances based on 12m ECL, using internal credit rating.

The credit risk on other debtors and deposits and non-trade nature amounts due from joint operations is limited 
because the counterparties have no historical default record and the directors expect that the general economic 
conditions will not significantly change from the 12 months after the reporting date.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk of debt investment at amortised cost is managed through an internal process. The Group closely 
monitors the financial performance of the issuer, which is a company listed in the Stock Exchange. In this regard, the 
directors of the Company consider the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Based on the Group’s internal credit rating, no material impairment loss allowance is recognised for other debtors and 
deposits, non-trade nature amounts due from joint operations and debt investment.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high 
credit ratings.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal 
credit rating Description

Trade receivables,
trade-nature 
amounts due from 
joint operations
and contract assets Other financial assets

    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 
have any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually 
settle after due date

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since 
initial recognition through information developed 
internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — 
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL — 
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect 
of recovery, when amounts are over three years past due

Amount is written off Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Note
External 
credit rating

Internal 
credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying amount

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Contract assets 18 N/A Note a Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 49,775 49,781

Trade receivables 19 N/A Note a Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 18,872 11,754

Amounts due from joint 
 operations (trade-nature)

20 N/A Note a Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 346 263

Other debtors and deposits 19 N/A Low risk 
(note b)

12m ECL 2,118 2,326

Amounts due from joint 
 operations (non-trade nature)

20 N/A Low risk 
(note b)

12m ECL 19,210 21,581

Debt investment at 
 amortised cost

17 N/A Low risk 
(note b)

12m ECL – 3,500

Bank balances and pledged 
 bank deposits

22 A1 N/A 12m ECL 59,706 102,105

Note:

(a) For trade receivables, trade-nature amounts due from joint operations and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach 
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected loss for debtors individually.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses the financial information of the joint operations and the issuer of 
debt investment and the past-due information of other debtors and deposits to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. The joint operations and the issuer of debt investment are considered by management to have sound financial position. 
The balances of other debtors and deposits are not past due.

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets for impairment using 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort in accordance with the 
requirements of HKFRS 9. No material impairment has been resulted for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of bank 
borrowings, as appropriate.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay.

Liquidity table

Weighted Repayable
average on demand Total Total

effective or less than 3 months Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year 1 year cash flows amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

At 31 March 2020
Trade and other payables – 23,862 5,989 2,137 31,988 31,988
Amounts due to other partners 
 of joint operations – 14,422 – – 14,422 14,422
Bank borrowings 3.31 3,805 – – 3,805 3,805
Lease liabilities 2.83 354 250 – 604 604       

42,443 6,239 2,137 50,819 50,819
       

Weighted Repayable
average on demand Total Total
effective or less than 3 months Over undiscounted carrying

interest rate 3 months to 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

At 31 March 2019
Trade and other payables – 48,077 1,852 7,540 57,469 57,469
Amounts due to other partners 
 of joint operations – 13,364 – – 13,364 13,364
Bank borrowing 2.06 1,873 – – 1,873 1,873       

63,314 1,852 7,540 72,706 72,706
       

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 3 months” 
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these 
bank borrowings, amounted to HK$3,805,000 (2019: HK$1,873,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, 
the directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand 
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within 3 years (2019: 2 years) after 
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, 
details of which are set out in the table below:

Total
Less than 1–2 2–5 undiscounted Carrying

1 year years years cash flows amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 March 2020
Bank borrowings
 — variable rates 2,238 1,536 128 3,902 3,805
      

At 31 March 2019
Bank borrowing
 — variable rates 1,205 702 – 1,907 1,873
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
33c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets recorded at amortised cost in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that is measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Held-for-trading non-derivative financial asset is measured at fair value at 31 March 2020 and 2019. The following table 
gives information about how the fair value of this financial asset is determined (in particular, the valuation techniques 
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised 
(levels 1 to 3 as set out in note 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurement is observable.

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique
Financial assets at FVTPL 31 March 2020 hierarchy and key input
    

Held-for-trading Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices
 non-derivative financial in Hong Kong:  in an active market
 assets HK$1,346,000

(2019: HK$1,653,000)

Held-for-trading Global fund: HK$2,191,000 Level 2 Quoted prices provided
 non-derivative financial 
 assets

(2019: HK$2,833,000)  by the fund administrator with 
 reference to the net asset value 
 of the investment fund

There is no transfer amongst the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified 
in the Group’s statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Amounts due to
other partners of

Dividend Bank Lease joint operations
payable borrowings liabilities (non-trade) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 12) (note 26) (note 24) (note 20)

      

At 1 April 2018 – 3,026 – 5,326 8,352
Financing cash flows – (1,234) – (2,596) (3,830)
Interest expenses – 81 – – 81
Dividend declared 14,694 – – – 14,694
Dividend paid (14,694) – – – (14,694)
      

At 31 March 2019 – 1,873 – 2,730 4,603
Adjustment upon application 
 of HKFRS 16 – – 1,994 – 1,994
      

At 1 April 2019 – 1,873 1,994 2,730 6,597
Financing cash flows – 1,772 (1,428) 6 350
Interest expenses – 160 38 – 198
      

At 31 March 2020 – 3,805 604 2,736 7,145
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(i) Transactions

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the year:

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

C & P (Holdings) Hong Kong Repayment of lease liability 1,390 –
 Limited (note) Interest expense on lease liability 38 –

Rental expense – 1,315

River King Management fee income 762 –
    

Note: C & P (Holdings) Hong Kong Limited is a related company in which a sibling of the director and a shareholder of the Company own its 

entire interest.

(ii) Balances
Details of balances with related parties are set out in note 20.

(iii) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and other members of key management was as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short term benefits 13,645 14,211
Post-employment benefits 90 93
   

13,735 14,304
   

36. PERFORMANCE BONDS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY
Certain customers of construction contracts undertaken by the Group require the group entities to issue guarantees for the 
performance of contract works in the form of performance bonds and secured either by other deposits or pledged bank 
deposits (see notes 19 and 22). The performance bonds are released when the construction contracts are completed or 
substantially completed.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding performance bonds as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Issued by the Group’s banks 5,206 16,621
Issued by an insurance institution 3,348 25
   

8,554 16,646
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37. JOINT OPERATIONS
Particulars of the Group’s material joint operations at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group

Place of Form of
establishment business

Name of joint operation and operation structure 2020 2019 Principal activities
      

Concentric — Hong Kong River Hong Kong Unincorporated 51.00% 51.00% Civil engineering works

Peako — Wo Hing Hong Kong Unincorporated 70.00% 70.00% Civil engineering works

Penta Ocean — Concentric Hong Kong Unincorporated 49.00% 49.00% Civil engineering works

Concentric — Sheung Moon Hong Kong Unincorporated 60.00% N/A Civil engineering works

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Proportion of
ownership

interest held
by the Company

Proportion of
voting

power held
by the Company

Place or
Name incorporation/
of subsidiary operations Paid up capital Principal activities

2020 2019 2020 2019
        

Directly held:

Keytime Development British Virgin Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% 100% 100% Investment holding
 Limited  Islands (“BVI”)

Wit Plus Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% 100% 100% Investment holding

Rich Partner BVI Ordinary shares US$100 100% 100% 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held:

Peako Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% 100% 100% Construction and civil
 HK$20,680,000  engineering

Concentric Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% 100% 100% Construction and civil
 HK$28,680,000  engineering

Man King Construction Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% 100% 100% Investment holding
 Limited  HK$100

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position
At 31 March 2020

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries – * – *
   

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note) 11,325 3,105
Other debtors 148 123
Bank balances and cash 753 2,139
   

12,226 5,367
   

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note) 10,220 –
Other payables 650 243
   

10,870 243
   

Total assets less current liabilities/Net assets 1,356 5,124
   

Capital and reserves
Share capital 4,198 4,198
Reserves (2,842) 926
   

Total equity 1,356 5,124
   

* Less than HK$1,000

Note: The amounts due with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group expects to realise the amount within 12 

months from the end of reporting period.

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2018 86,474 (11,739) 74,735
Loss for the year – (59,115) (59,115)
Dividend (note 12) (14,694) – (14,694)
    

At 31 March 2019 71,780 (70,854) 926
Loss for the year – (3,768) (3,768)
    

At 31 March 2020 71,780 (74,622) (2,842)
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) in the world and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by 
the Hong Kong government has had an impact on the Group’s operations. As the situation remains fluid, the directors of the 
Company considered that the financial effects of COVID-19 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements cannot be 
reasonably estimated as the date these financial statements are authorised for issue. Given the Group’s business might be 
affected should the situation in Hong Kong (where the Group operates) deteriorates and the directors of the Company will 
continue to closely monitor and take appropriate responses in a timely manner in order to mitigate the impact on the Group’s 
business in this regard.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Revenue 183,279 164,516 232,157 184,635 231,661
      

Operating profit (loss) 40,060 10,961 9,137 (2,417) (5,845)
Listing expenses (5,873) – – – –
Share of (loss) profit of an associate – – – (207) 8,715
Finance costs (85) – (27) (81) (198)
      

Profit (loss) before tax 34,102 10,961 9,110 (2,705) 2,672
Income tax (expense) credit (6,900) (2,432) (2,103) 71 277
      

Profit (loss) for the year 27,202 8,529 7,007 (2,634) 2,949
Other comprehensive income 1,193 – – – –
      

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) 
 for the year attributable to owners of the Company 28,395 8,529 7,007 (2,634) 2,949
      

Earnings (loss) per share
 Basic (in HK cents) 7.05 2.05 1.67 (0.63) 0.70
      

 Diluted (in HK cents) 7.05 2.05 1.67 (0.63) 0.70
      

FINANCIAL POSITION

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Total assets 314,666 328,220 355,180 315,749 297,335
Total liabilities 58,044 54,879 74,258 80,202 58,839
      

Total equity 256,622 273,341 280,922 235,547 238,496
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